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Early Schools
The Connecticut Code of 1650 laid the foundation for education in Connecticut when it held towns responsible for ensuring that children who reside in such towns are educated to “…inable them perfectly to read the Inglish tounge.”
  A fine of twenty shillings for each child not taught was to be levied against the town.  The code also stated that each township of 50 householders should have a teacher of reading and writing, to be paid by the parents of scholars.  When there were 100 householders a grammar school was to be established.

The history of Rocky Hill schools begins when new settlers move into the southern part of Wethersfield around the 1650’s.  It is probable that these independent folk soon tired of the weekly treks north for parish meetings and other obligations, such as the education of their children.  As there is little recorded information on schools during this time it is probable that as most social activities revolved around the household, so did education.

During the next thirty years, more families moved south and apparently felt the need to carry out their education responsibilities closer to home.  In 1694 Wethersfield voters exempted the “Rocky Hill” people from paying school taxes if they could find their own teacher,
 which they did as indicated in a resolution five years later.  Apparently the inhabitants of the “lower community”, as this part of Wethersfield was called, needed their own schoolhouse soon, and in 1712 the first was built (most likely in the northern part of town).  
This structure became inadequate and within the next decade a famous controversy ensued over the siting of a new schoolhouse.  As a side benefit to us from these proceedings, which went to the General Assembly, is the earliest existing map of the Rocky Hill area (Appendix II).  The location of the new school house was probably resolved, but it is unclear exactly where it was.  That the population of the area was growing so as to require a new school and that individuals would have to in part pay for the building of this school, are significant facts in the story of education in Rocky Hill.

It became evident that the settlers in the southern part of Wethersfield could support their own parish and minister and in 1722 the General Court incorporated the southern part of the town as Stepney Parish.  Four years later the first school committee was formed with Richard Robbins, Abraham Morris and Samuel Belding, Jr. its new members.

Stepney Parish Schools
By the second decade of the 18th century there were probably 70-80 school aged children, and by 1735 schooling was going on in the three parts of Stepney Parish (north, south and west) although there probably was still only one schoolhouse.  As was true in other locations, this schoolhouse was most likely financed through a combination of public and private money.
In 1756 new school lines were established for the parish and the issue of having schoolhouses for at least the north and south parts was seriously discussed (the former probably the old Boardman school, the latter located at the foot of the hill by the burying ground).  Forty-eight pounds and fourteen shillings was voted to pay for these houses, at which school would be held 15 weeks a year.  By 1781 the parish was formally divided into four districts, each of which managed their separate schoolhouses.

In 1796, the General Assembly shifted the responsibility of schools from the parishes to school societies, where it rested until 1856 when this task was given to the towns.
  In preparing this paper I was most fortunate to have access to the Stepney School Society records (1797-1855) which were recently found in the attic of the Congregational Church of Rocky Hill.

Management of the Schools (1797-1807)
The Stepney School Society records document officers elected and votes taken on major issues; all important decisions of a legal nature that affected the Stepney Parish were handled at official meetings of the school society.  Officers of the parish included a moderator (chosen for each meeting held), clerk, school society committee (composed of one representative from each school district (the committee)), a treasurer, and a visiting committee or Board of Visitors.  This last group, which in 1813 was also called the overseers of the school, had typically six to eight persons (two from each district) and exerted the most direct influence on the schools.

Over the period November 1797–October 1807, there were a total of 84 elected positions (approximately 12 positions per year for seven years of data; the years 1801-1804 are blank).  However, there were only 36 men (representing but 20 families) who held office during that time.  It is clear that there was definitely a small group of individuals, either through education or means, that formed a type of “elite” in Stepney.  Of these twenty families, eight of them had three or more members elected.  Those families and the number of office holders are:  Robbins (5), Goodrich (4), Bulkley (4), Williams (3), Hosford (2), Merriam (2), Belden (2), and Butler (2).  Ebenezer Goodrich was elected moderator twice in nine years, as was Tabor Riley, but James Stanley was elected four times.  Interestingly, the only two treasurers during the period researched were James Stanley and Frederick Robbins.
The parish minister, as was true throughout 17th and 18th century New England, was the central figure in the political structure of the town.  Reverend Calvin Chapin, minister of Stepney from 1794-1850, was particularly influential because of distinguished scholarship at Yale, his kinship connections through marriage to Jerusha Edwards, daughter of Jonathan Edwards, and his prominence in church matters throughout the colony of Connecticut.  He served on the Visiting Committee during the entire period examined except for 1798-99 when he was voted, “inspector of the school and…of Stepney Society.”
The leadership of the three- to four-member School Society Committee, which dealt with more than just school matters, seemed to rest in the hands of a select group; only sixteen different persons served during the period examined.  Out of the 30 positions possible, just eight families were represented.  The predominance of the Robbins family is evident, as nine of the 30 individual terms were occupied by one of its members.

Significant Decisions of the School Society
Decisions over this ten-year period were concerned with boundaries, money and taxes, building or establishing schools, determining school boundary lines, making exceptions to these lines, managing the burying ground, and electing officers.  Apparently any expenditure of public money had to be duly authorized by the society, and at the meeting of October 5, 1801, it was voted that the, “School committee shall take money out of the treasury to purchase a record book” (probably the very one which was recently found).

In 1822, when the parish was formally divided into four districts, the society committee was John Flint, referred to as committee for north district; Wait Williams, middle; Samuel Butler, south; and Aaron Porter, west.  Two years later a decision quoted below was made that is evidence of the strong tie that inhabitants had to their parishes, and to the seriousness of moving from one to another.

From the record of the spring meeting of March 1824, “Voted, that the following petition of William A. Haven, Levi Warner, and Henry Wells be granted,

“To the Inhabitants of the 3rd School Society in Wethersfield.
“The undersigned Inhabitants of the north school district in said
society respectfully represent that in consequence of their local

situations in relations to the other parts of said district.  They

are labouring under many disadvantages and inconveniences on

account of the distance to the school-house in said district, the

bad state of the roads during the greater proportion of the

year, and other circumstances too numerous to be here

specified.  That they can be much better accommodated in the 

South District in the first society in Wethersfield—if that said

South District are willing to receive them—They therefore

desire that the said Inhabitants in legal meeting assembled

would grant their request and pass the following or some other

equivalent.  The desires of these men were met as the meeting

voted,

“That the petitioners…not be hereafter considered as a part or

members of said north district but they and every one of them

may be uniuted to the said first society—provided said first

society by their vote duly admit them—and provided also that

all taxes debits and demands now legally due said south society

or said north district be duly paid and discharged…”

In the meeting of October 27, 1828, the society voted to establish a school of the higher order, to be kept in the north school room in the middle district, with Jasper Graham as its collector of taxes.  The purposes of such schools were to “…perfect the youth admitted therein in the rudiments of English grammar, in composition, in arithmetic, and geography, or, on particular desire, in the Latin and Greek language; also in the first principles of religion and morality…”
  Qualifications for admittance to this school was never documented in Rocky Hill, as far as I could determine, but it was probably open to those older students who had mastered the more rudimentary skills taught in the common schools.
For reasons unexplained in the records, the school was still not a reality two years later, when on October 18, the society voted that such a school be instituted “…for the common benefit of the society to be kept four months the ensuing winter at the north school room in the middle district…a committee of four, one from each district in the society to manage the concerns of the school for a higher order.”  Continued problems plagued the school, as the records show that in October, 1833, a motion to reconsider the establishment of such a school was made.  The motion was defeated, and presumably the school became a reality soon after.
Governance of the Middle District
Although very few records of Rocky Hill schools during the 17th and 18th century now exist, I was fortunate to find the Records of the Middle School District (1825-52) in the Connecticut State Archives.  From this I have gained insights into other facets of education in this particular district, but such perceptions are probably generalizable in some measure to the other three districts.

Within each district, the organization paralleled that of the School Society and officers elected were moderator, clerk, treasurer, collector of taxes, and committee member (of the School Society).  Again, prominent families seem to appear more frequently than others.  During the ten-year period which I analyzed (1825-35), there were 26 meetings, chaired by eleven moderators, with three having led more than three meetings (Dr. Daniel Fuller, five meetings; Jasper Graham, seven; and Nathan Lee, four).  There were but two clerks during this period, Walter Bulkley (1825-31), and Roderick Grimes (1831-35).  Even more telling is the fact that the treasurer for all ten years was Levi Robbins, probably a descendent of Joshua Robbins, one of the original members of the Congregational Church in Rocky Hill.  In addition, Levi was treasurer of the ecclesiastical society during this period.
Schools of the Middle District (1825-1835)
In order to determine exactly who should be in school and the size and number of schools required, the district committee member every year, as of the first Monday in August made an enumeration of individuals between the ages of four and sixteen.  He had to certify to the justice of the peace that his figures were an accurate account.  The number of school age students are listed in Appendix I which I derived from the School Returns, 1819-41, now housed in the State Archives.
Student population in the district moved from a high of 149 in 1824, to a low of 106 in 1831, and then began increasing to 128 in 1841; this was paralleled in the parish totals which ranged from a high of 362 in 1824 to a low of 276 in 1831 and then increased to 330 in 1841.  Perhaps the First Great Depression had some effect on the population in the parish.  The middle district, with its higher concentration of homes and businesses, probably had the largest school population throughout the rest of the century.

Prior to the discussion of a school of a higher order, the schools of the parish were probably “common” schools, which attempted to teach the rudiments of reading and writing.  It is not clear from the records I used whether certain subjects of study referred to the common or the higher order school.  In the October meeting in 1827, it was voted that “…one common school be kept the ensuing year in which grammar and arithmetic shall not be taught.”  Either the common school and the one of a higher order shared the same schoolhouse, which is probable, or, there was just one common school which included all children, and was responsible for teaching a broad variety of subjects.
The district meeting in October 1825 called for two schools to be kept (the common and the higher order?) which I presume were in the Center School, now some 22 years old.  With a total school age population (between the ages of four and sixteen) of 146, it became necessary to hold more than one school, particularly in the winter when children were not as vitally needed for farm work at home.  The question of which children went to which school was decided at the October 18th meeting of 1825 when a committee was appointed to “…divide the scholars as near as practible.”  Unfortunately, we know little more than that.
Terms for the winter schools were generally five to six months, the summer ones four and one-half months.  District meetings always indicated the proportion of public monies which should be expended on each school and term; the balance was then raised by an amount to be apportioned on each student in accordance with his attendance.  It seems as though the money voted for the term went only to pay the teacher, since repairs to schoolhouses were voted separately.
Teachers of Stepney Society and Rocky Hill
Teachers of the 18th century were more like entrepreneurs than those of the 19th century.  They were more likely to be men and typically set up a school in their home or in a building next to their homestead.  Ministers often performed the function of teachers, and Rev. Chapin, the fourth pastor in Rocky Hill, after graduating from Yale in 1788, opened a school in Hartford and conducted it for two years.
Jonathan Boardman in the 18th century, Flavel Tonten and George Chambers in the early 19th century are known to have been schoolmasters.  According to notes on the school return of November, 1819, Mr. Flavel earned fourteen dollars per month for six months of winter school, eleven dollars per week for boarding, twelve dollars per month for 4 ½ months for summer school, and eleven dollars for boarding per week for summer school.

Miss Willard, a teacher in the Middle district, was paid $1.75 per week in 1833, probably for the summer term, for which women teachers were more common.  As the usual time for a summer term was 18 weeks, this would give her a total of $31.50.  In 1834, George Chambers received $41 for the  summer term and $.06 ¼ per week for each scholar attending.

Another indication of the financial status of teachers in the first year of Rocky Hill’s incorporation can be seen via the October 1, 1843 tax list.  That of Mr. Chambers is given below:

Assessment:


Real Property           1 home lot
1.25 a.
$80



1 meadow lot
1.5 a.
$90

Tax Levied:


Pers. Property
1 house

$13.50



2.75 a. land

    5.10



1 horse
                              .60



2 cows

    1.44


2 sheep

      .12


1 clock

      .12



1 wagon

    2.40



1 poll

  10.00




  33.28
For comparison, the tax levied ranged from $0-1.47, with the highest tax being paid by James Robbins.  The grand list for the town was $11,975.05.  There were 178 persons who paid only a poll tax and 35 individuals had a military exemption.  There were 208 dwelling houses.
Although there is mention of board being paid to teachers, there are more references, especially in the early 19th century, to them customarily boarding with the families of their students.  The remuneration of teachers was a matter of great variety, depending on general custom and local wealth.  The teacher in the North District in 1849 was directed to “…procure his own board
 while teachers in the Middle District boarded with families of their students.
From the Records of the Board of Visitors, we get the first detailed information about who taught in Rocky Hill.  Appendix I lists the teachers in all four districts from 1849-56.  The pattern was to have a male teacher in the winter term and a female during the summer.

During this seven-year period, there was a high degree of teacher turnover, most teachers staying for only one or two terms.  The two teachers who served more than three terms were, Elisabeth Sugden (five terms) and Melissa Belden (four).  Although teachers moved from one district to another, whether in search for more money or better working conditions, Sugden taught more terms in the Middle District and Belden in the South District.

In the mid-19th century the Board of Visitors began to take a more active role in hiring and supervising teachers than previously.  This came about probably because poorer quality teachers were available than previously was the case and the state was becoming more involved in education.  The following message is quoted from the October 29th meeting of the Board of Visitors and is the result of the board responding to state law that mandates it an instruction of teachers every year:

“1st  The teachers shall be themselves punctual in their


attendance the whole of school hours…and they shall faithfully


exert themselves to cause the punctual attendance of their


pupils”.


“2nd  Teachers shall cause the greatest possible stillness to be


observed in school…to use their influence to prevent the


children from making disturbance by loud and indecent noises


while going to and returning home from school.


“3rd  …impressing by precept and example the sentiments


of Christian morality upon the minds of their pupils.


“4th  The first or last reading of each day shall be in either

the scriptures of the Old or New Testament.


“5th  Books used will be only those approved (the scriptures


excepted).


“6th  …shall diligently use their influence that their pupils


are furnished with the requisite books.”


In cases of discipline problems, teachers are to “…inflict no


punishment but such as are consistent with personal safety—


and if such punishment fail to produce the desired effect, it


shall be incumbent upon them to inform the District Committee


thus—the refractory pupil be expelled or otherwise dealt with


as provided by the law of the state.”


“Visitors…solemnly recommend that they daily and with


reverence perform the religious duty of prayer in their schools.”

As this is the first recorded instance of the desires of the Rocky Hill visitors as to what should be taking place in the schools, this is an important document for understanding the structure and expectations of schooling during this period.  As  society became less locally-focused, the mores of the community could not be assumed to be shared by all.  There were newcomers to the community, including teachers.  Apparently, this was one reason that these instructions had to be more explicit.  Although I have seen no corresponding statements to teachers in an earlier period, the records of October 15, 1849 meeting refer to “Rules and Regulations for Teachers” which was to have been used in the society “years ago”.  Just when this was and how detailed were the instructions is now a matter of conjecture.  As I shall indicate later, the statement of such expectations did not ensure their accomplishment.
The first instruction speaks to the most basic of responsibilities—that of being physically present and expecting the same of students.  The second, the need for teachers to control their students’ negative behavior, was as crucial to education in the early 19th century as it is today.  By asking teachers to be responsible for students on their way home from school seems to imply that teachers potentially had much more clout than ours do today.  It is significant that today parents are responsible for students until they are on school property.  It is conceivable that the requirements that the teachers inform the district committee of intractable student behavior came as a  result of teachers being too zealous, or not stringent enough with their students behavior.
The third, fourth and final instructions highlight the critical role that schools played in socialization and the central position that the church held in this process.  Religion and the development of schooling in the 17th and 18th centuries were intertwined in New England.
The community wanted control over which books were being used, so an approval process was instituted.  Prior to this time there may not have been much more than the Bible available, so this subject was not an issue.  The question of making sure that children are furnished with their own books presages, in a small way, the equity issue which still plagues us today.  As the students had to purchase their own books, if students could not or would not, they were not able to read and master requisite skills.

Qualifications, Certification and Discharge of Teachers
In addition to instructing prospective teachers as to performance expectations, members of the Board of Visitors also examined them for competence in the subjects to be taught, as indicated below, during the Board of Visitors meeting, October 29, 1849:

“Chairmen [Soloman Griswold] shall examine in reading, writing,

 
spelling and parsing.


Thomas Williams shall examine in the rules and definitions of


English Grammar.


George O. Chambers shall examine in the science of arithmetic.


Lucius Beaumont shall examine in geography.


Philo Judson shall examine in history.”

No subjects examined seem to be more applicable to a school of a higher order than to the common school, but most probably, these qualifications were assumed to be necessary to teach in either of the two types of schools.

After the initial part of the examination, board members were free to ask any other questions of the teachers prior to the certification of such teachers.  The examinations were not a pro forma exercise, as the candidate for the South District failed and was put on probation and was not certified.  At the next board meeting a new candidate, Mr. Streeter, was examined and certified.  I am uncertain of when boards became involved in the certification of teachers, but this responsibility was subsequently taken over by the state.

Through the next four years similar examinations and certification continued, with the additional areas of general management, moral principles, and general information being added.  The first two subjects were first examined by the new pastor, Rev. Lebbeus Rockwood.  Mr. Dimock examined general information as well as writing.  However, in the record of the meeting of November, 1854, individual board members did not take responsibility for specific areas, but instead, “…the examinations of candidates for teachers [will] be general, any member being allowed to put questions in any of the studies required by law to be taught in the common schools.”

The board’s responsibility was also to visit the schools to ensure that their instructions were being followed.  It is probable that the visitors were not all as equally committed to their task, and the teachers most likely still had a great deal of freedom to run their own schools.  The first recorded instance of specific problems with a teacher occurs in the records of the visitors on January 15, 1855.  The voters of the South District voted on January 11 that, …school be discontinued until the district can obtain a more suitable teacher who will give better satisfaction in the district…we find sufficient cause in our minds to warrant…discharge [of William Elmer]; and that we hereby refer the case to the Executive Committee [Board of Visitors?] of the Rocky Hill School Society.”  In a legal-style setting, the following charges were brought:
1) “…not kept usual number of hours customary for district

schools to be open.

2) “…has not taught the pupils to read, write and recite their

lessons.

3) “…has severely punished some of his pupils for slight

offenses.”

The case ended by Mr. Elmer resigning his position:…upon certain considerations to be fulfilled…” by the district. (These were not listed.)

Less than four months after this discharge case, the Board of Visitors made their instructions to new teachers even more explicit than those in the past.  Within the instructions was wording that failure to abide by these rules was sufficient cause for discharge.  It seems as though the Board of Visitors had benefited from some solid legal advice.

Included in these instructions was the requirement that the schools were to be open from 9-12 noon, and 1-4 p.m. each weekday, with the exception of each Saturday afternoon or all Saturday, once in a two-week period.  If school is not in session six hours a day, the time should be made up with extra hours (no more than seven per day) or extra days.
In addition, teachers were to ascertain name and age of pupil, and name of parent, guardians or master on the first day of attendance.  The teacher was to “…inquire what studies the pupil designs to pursue,” and will not neglect to instruct or hear lessons after the pupil has arrived.  Teachers are not to use any “…improper language in school, or to speak in anger to pupils, or to throw down or about the room any books, or other articles in an angry manner; but shall exert him or herself to preserve order by a collected and quiet but decided demeanor.”  The issue of corporal punishment was addressed, and the only allowable “…instrument…shall be a common switch…and in no case shall a teacher…strike any pupil upon any part of the head or face.”
At least two of the visitors realized that the problems of unqualified teachers needed to be addressed and in the same April meeting which specified reasons for discharge, Reverend Rockwood and Dr. Rufus Griswold eloquently argued for hiring more experienced and qualified teachers when they proposed that the board resolve that “…continued employment, season after season, as a rule of young and inexperienced persons…who neither have taught or intend in future to teach schools—who have not properly qualified themselves in the management of pupils, nor attempted to do so—who have no interest in their success as teachers than such as pertains to the passing season—and who engage in the business for one or two terms only, and merely to procure the means of pursuing their studies in other directions or to pass away the time without being idle—is detrimental to the proper instruction of the children, antagonistic to the progress of our schools and far from conductive to the best interests of the rising generation among us; and that therefore this board recommends that…the several districts in this society employ for teachers persons experienced and who are known to be good teachers or can produce proper evidence to that effect.”  The board also resolved that since it was probable that better teachers would be more expensive, that the “…benefits that would most assuredly arise therefrom to the pupils would be ample compensation for the increased outlay of means.”  Both of these resolutions were unanimously accepted.

Students of the Early 19th Century
Aside from the enumeration records for the period 1819-1841, there is little direct information on students.  One interesting source which I examined was the Center District School Register of the 1852 summer term, which was May 10-September 28.  At the beginning of the term 57 students were enrolled, representing ages three to fifteen, and most likely were in two rooms.  If some of these students were part of the school of a higher order that fact was not indicated.  Elisabeth Sugden was the teacher of the eighteen boys and 39 girls who were enrolled.  There were 22 pupils who were in the three to seven year-old range; 22 in the eight to eleven year-old range; and seven in the twelve to sixteen year-old range.  Six students had no age recorded.  Obviously the older students would have had to act as “teacher helpers” for the younger ones.  Attendance generally was low (July 17th had a 77.7% attendance rate).  There was no significant difference in the attendance pattern between boys and girls.

The largest age group represented was that of six-year-olds.  Among the 57 students, 36 families were represented, most of whom had one or two school-aged children enrolled.  The family with the most children enrolled (six) was headed by John Bulkley, and four other families each had three children enrolled.
Books and Curriculum
I have seen no evidence that until the early 19th century were the books used by children in the common schools a topic of discussion.  The Bible was the one unquestioned source of learning before this time.  At the meeting on October 29, 1849, the Rocky Hill Board of Visitors received and accepted the findings of its committee on books.  The committee recommended the following:


“National Preceptor, 1st Class Reading Book


Mandeville’s 4th Reader


Childs Guide


Perkin’s Arithmetic


Smith’s Grammar


Smith’s Geography


Smith’s Astronomy


Goodrich’s History of the US


Robbins’ Outline of History


Websters Elementary Spelling Book”

A year later the board voted to introduce the series of reading by Professor Mandeville, as can “…be done without detriment.”  Apparently, it became the practice every fall to approve the books which would be used during the next two school terms.  In 1852, the Goodrich’s series of geographies were adopted and to be used in all of the Society’s schools.  Again, in 1854, students were requested to “…purchase and use Weld’s Grammar, in such cases where such pupils are about purchasing new ones.”  From the examination of these records it seems that there was quite a bit of variance in texts to be used which could lead to considerable confusion.
Role of the State of Connecticut
The General Assembly, and earlier The General Court, passed laws affecting local schools.  In the middle 1830’s, a decline in Connecticut schools began, as reflected in a report initiated by Governor Ellsworth
 which pointed out that:

“Parents took little interest in the schools


School visitors were not always faithful in fulfilling their duties.


An alarming number of teachers were poorly qualified and


inefficient.


Average pay for men was $14.50; for women, $5.75 (exclusive


of board) was not adequate or equal to the rewards of skill and


industry in other fields of labor.


There was a great diversity of school books.


The schoolhouses were often unfit for use.


More than 6,000 children of school age were out of school.


The ratio of common schools to private ones was 1:7”

Because of the deteriorating situation, laws were passed in the next few years that began to make the cities and towns more accountable to the state.  The evidence in Rocky Hill of these efforts can be seen in the Board of Visitors report in the spring of 1856.  “…After the winter schools were ended, a communication, with an accompanying blank circular, was received from the Superintendent of Common Schools, requesting from the visitors information upon the condition of the schoolhouses in the several districts, apparatus, libraries…, etc., etc.  The desired information was collected by Dr. Griswold and transmitted to the Superintendent.”
Conclusion
Through the examination of the primary source documents used for this paper.  I have come to appreciate the importance of the countless related events that occurred over these two hundred years which have formed the basis of Rocky Hill’s educational system today.  Factors of the physical and social environment, characteristics of leaders and actors in the enterprise of education all influenced the outcome.  The structure of Rocky Hill’s education and the characteristics of its teachers, students, and curriculum are probably remarkably similar to other “second generation” Connecticut towns with similar resources and geography.
Economic and social realities of the Connecticut River Valley presented options for those who had the means to act.  Powerful families with wealth, and leaders of the Stepney Society were influential in determining the kind and quality of schools that would exist in Rocky Hill.

As an economy of the Connecticut River Valley in the 19th century became more national in scope and came to be based more and more on cash, so the common schools began to lose their local flavor.  The teacher market was no longer Rocky Hill, or the River valley, but Connecticut and beyond as is evident from the list of teachers in 1854.

But community wealth and the quality of local professional and lay leadership alone cannot account for the final outcome of the educational system.  The renewed role of the state and the intangibles of teachers’ influence and ideas provide the missing factors in our historical equation.
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